

BYLAWS

Amended and Approved as of May 21, 2019

ARTICLE I MEMBERSHIP

Section 1 – Association Membership

The National Recreation and Park Association, Incorporated (hereinafter, the "National Association") shall have three (3) classes of members, none of whom shall have any voting rights except as otherwise may be required by law or the National Association's restated Certificate of Incorporation. These classes of members shall be designated as Professional, Student, Advocate.

- a) <u>Professional members:</u> A professional member of the National Association is a park and recreation professional working in agencies or other environments, such as likeminded non-profit organizations, universities, colleges, military base installations, consultants, and hospitals or health clinics.
- b) <u>Advocate members:</u> An advocate member of the National Association is an individual, including those who serve on park and recreation boards or advisory councils; is elected or appointed such as commissioner, trustees, mayors, and town council members; and volunteers.
- c) <u>Student members:</u> A student member of the National Association is a full or part-time student studying park and recreation curricula or related field; not simultaneously employed as a full-t ime professional in that field.

ARTICLE II

AFFILIATES AND OTHER DESIGNATIONS WITHIN THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

The Board of Directors of the National Association shall have the power to designate affiliate organizations. Affiliate designation may be granted to those having purposes and interests similar to the National Association and which meet such requirements as may be specified by the Board of Directors. A two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors is required for such designation.

ARTICLE III BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1 – Number and Qualification of Directors

The National Association shall be governed by a Board of Directors consisting of a number of members between fifteen (15) and thirty (30), or such other number as shall be decided by the entire Board from time to time as long as such number is not less than three (3). No decrease shall shorten the term of any incumbent Director. The Board of Directors must be comprised of at least 50 percent advocate members. The Chair of the Board of Directors has the authority to appoint two (2) members of the Board of Directors, whom are included within the range determined above. The remainder of the Board of Directors shall be comprised of at-large members elected by a majority of the Board of Directors.

All Directors shall be members in good standing of the National Association during their term of office. No Director shall receive any compensation for serving on the Board of Directors or any committee thereof.

Once elected to the Board of Directors, individuals shall keep their original designation (professional or advocate) through the entirety of their tenure on the Board, including any subsequent terms, despite any change in title or occupation.

Every effort should be made to ensure representation of historically under-represented groups, such as women, and racial and ethnic minorities, on the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee.

Section 2 - Election and Term of Office

The Board of Directors is elected by the Board of Directors and will ratify election results at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors. Each term of office shall commence following the close of the Annual Meeting at which he or she is elected and shall continue for a term of three years. Service on the Board of Directors for both advocate and professional members is limited to two (2) consecutive three (3) year terms, with the exception of elected officers of the Association. Appointments to the Board by the Chair are for a two-year term.

Section 3 – Attendance

If a member of the Board of Directors has had two (2) consecutive unexcused absences as determined by the Chair and Chair-elect or Past Chair of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee shall vote on whether to declare the position vacant.

Section 4 – Vacancy

Any at-large vacancy on the Board of Directors occurring during a term of office may be filled for the remainder of the unexpired term by vote of a majority of the remaining Directors. A vacancy formerly occupied by a Professional Director shall be filled by a Professional member and a vacancy formerly occupied by an Advocate Director shall be filled by an Advocate member.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

Section 1 – Title and Qualifications

Officers of the Association shall be Chair of the Board of Directors, Chair-elect, Past Chair, Secretary, and Treasurer. All officers must be Directors. The position of Past Chair and the Chair-elect shall alternate one-year terms with the Chair-elect serving in the 2nd year and the Past Chair serving in the Chair's first year. There will be no Chair-elect in the Chair's first year and there is no Past Chair in the Chair's second year.

Section 2 – Election and Term of Office

The Board of Directors shall elect its own officers and ratify election results at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors. Each term of office shall commence following the close of the Annual Meeting at which he or she is elected and shall continue though the next Annual Meeting.

<u>Section 3 – Resignations and Removals</u>

Any officer may resign at any time by delivering a written letter of resignation to the Chair, in the case of the Chair it should be given to the Chair-elect or Past Chair of the Board. Removal

of officers shall be by two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors and may be with or without cause. Notice of intent to remove an officer shall be in writing and such notice mailed to all Directors at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting at which a vote is to be taken.

Section 4 – Vacancies

A vacancy in any office may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by the Board of Directors.

Section 5 - Chair of the Board

The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall share with the President and Chief Executive Officer the power to sign all contracts authorized generally or specifically by the Board of Directors. The Chair, in consultation with the Chair-elect or Past Chair, shall appoint members of all Director committees, except the Executive Committee, and may establish and appoint special committees, boards, councils, and task forces. The Chair shall keep the Board of Directors fully informed concerning affairs of the National Association and shall have such other powers and duties not inconsistent with the bylaws of the National Association, as assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors. No employee of the National Association shall serve as Chair of the Board or hold any other title with similar responsibilities.

Section 6 - Chair-elect

In the absence of the Chair, the Chair-elect shall perform the duties of the Chair and shall have such other duties and powers not inconsistent with the bylaws, as assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Chair-elect shall provide consultation to the Chair regarding appointment of members of all Director committees, with the exception of the Executive Committee. The Chair shall serve as Chair of the Executive Committee and the Chair-elect shall serve as Chair of the Strategic Planning Committee. The Chair-elect shall automatically assume the office of Chair at the completion of his or her term.

Section 7 - Past Chair

In the absence of the Chair, the Past Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair and shall have such other duties and powers not inconsistent with the bylaws, as assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Past Chair shall provide consultation to the Chair regarding appointment of members of all Director committees, with the exception of the Executive Committee.

Section 8 – Secretary

The Secretary shall, at all meetings of the Board of Directors, declare a quorum and shall keep the minutes of all such meetings. The Secretary shall perform all duties customarily incident to the office and shall perform all such other duties as assigned from time to time to him or her by the Board of Directors.

Section 9 – Treasurer

The Treasurer shall have oversight of all funds and securities of the National Association, shall cause full and accurate accounts to be kept, shall render a statement of accounts when required by the Board of Directors, and shall advise the Board of Directors on the financial condition of the National Association at every Board meeting. The Treasurer shall serve as Chair of the Finance Committee.

ARTICLE V COMMITTEES

Section 1 – Authority

The Board of Directors authorizes the committees set forth herein and may authorize one or more other standing or special committees of the Board by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board, each consisting of three (3) or more Directors, for such purposes and with such powers as the Board of Directors may provide, except as otherwise restricted by law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws. Each committee shall have such duties and responsibilities as are granted to it by these Bylaws or as provided for by resolution or in any policies and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors.

Section 2 – Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall consist of the elected Officers of the National Association, The Chair will appoint two (2) at-large Directors to the Executive Committee after consultation with the Governance Committee. Appointments to the Executive Committee by the Chair are for a one (1) year term. The Executive Committee shall have all the authority of the Board of Directors, except as otherwise restricted by law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws. The Executive Committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and shall provide reports on its conclusions, recommendations, and actions to the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

Section 3 – Finance Committee

The Finance Committee shall oversee the financial affairs of the National Association, and the adoption, implementation of, and compliance with the Conflict of Interest and Whistleblower Policies. This committee will have such other duties and responsibilities as are granted to it by these Bylaws or as provided for in the policies and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors.

Section 4- Governance Committee

The Board Governance committee shall advise the Board on the smooth and effective functioning of the Board. The committee is responsible for presenting board candidates to the Board for their approval, as well as reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on matters of governance and Board composition and shall have such other duties and responsibilities as are granted to it by these Bylaws or as provided for in the policies and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 5 – Fund Development Committee</u>

The Fund Development Committee shall advise the Board on fundraising strategy and activities and shall have such other duties and responsibilities as are granted to it by these Bylaws or as provided for in the policies and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors. Members of the Fund Development committee shall be appointed by the Chair of the Board in consultation with the NRPA President and Chief Executive Officer. The Chair of the Board shall serve as the chair of the committee. The committee may include non-Board members and shall not have any authority to bind the Board or NRPA.

Section 6 – Other Non-Board Committees

Other committees, boards, councils, and task forces may be established and appointed by the Chair of the Board in consultation with the Chair-elect and may include Directors, officers, or

National Association members or any combination thereof, but no such non-Board committees shall have the authority to bind the Board.

Section 7 – Removal, Resignation, or Replacement of Committee Members

Provisions for removal, resignation, or replacement of committee members shall be at the discretion of the Board Chair.

ARTICLE VI

MEETINGS, VOTING AND QUORUM REQUIREMENTS

Section 1 – Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held at the time and place of the National Association's Conference for Recreation and Parks, or in any year in which such Conference is not held at such other time and place determined by the Board of Directors. Notice of the time and place of the Annual Meeting shall be given not less than thirty (30) days prior to such meeting date.

Section 2 – Other Meetings of the Board of Directors

Other meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chair of the Board of Directors at a time and place specified by the Chair. Written notice of the time and place of such meetings shall be given not less than ten (10) days prior to the date set for such meeting.

Section 3 - Quorum

A quorum for purposes of transacting business for the Board of Directors and committees shall be one third (1/3) of the number of members. In the absence of a quorum, the chair may adjourn the meeting until a quorum is obtained.

Section 4 – Organization

The Chair of the Board of Directors, or in his or her absence the Chair-elect, shall preside over all meetings of the Board of Directors. In the absence of the Chair and Chair-elect, the Past Chair shall preside. If all such officers are absent, a temporary Chair may be chosen by the Board of Directors.

Section 5 – Voting

At any meeting of the Board of Directors, each Director present in person shall be entitled to cast one vote on any and all matters which shall come before such meeting.

Section 6 – Annual Reports

All reports required under Section 519 of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law or other applicable statutes must be presented at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII ADMINISTRATION

Section 1 – President and Chief Executive Officer

The Board of Directors shall retain a full- time chief administrative official, the President and Chief Executive Officer, who shall serve at the pleasure of the board and report to the board Chair. The President and Chief Executive Officer shall serve as an ex-officio member of the

Board of Directors, but shall not have voting rights on the Board. The President and Chief Executive Officer shall have responsibility for and control of administrative staff of the National Association, including the hiring and dismissal of staff, subject to any controls as may be determined by the Board of Directors, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors. The President and Chief Executive Officer is the chief staff executive. He or she shall initiate and participate in the formation of new policies and make decisions within existing policies approved by the Board of Directors, assure that organizational objectives are attained and member needs addressed, and provide management and leadership to complement constructive growth and functioning of the National Association.

Subject to any restrictions the Board of Directors might from time to time impose, the President and Chief Executive Officer shall have the authority to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument involving the name of and on behalf of the National Association as outlined by the Executive Committee.

Section 2 – President and Chief Executive Officer's Contract and Evaluation

The National Association shall enter into an employment contract with the President and Chief Executive Officer, for a period of time determined by the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall review, evaluate, and assess in writing the President and Chief Executive Officer's performance at least once a year and shall report thereon to the Board of Directors

Section 3 – Financial Standards

The National Association shall adhere to generally accepted standards of financial management. The National Association's accounts shall be audited annually by an independent certified public accountant appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors, whose examination shall be made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

ARTICLE VIII CREDENTIAL BOARDS

The National Association shall have the authority to establish such boards of registration, certification, accreditation, and credentials as it deems necessary.

ARTICLE IX NON-DISCRIMINATION

The National Association and its branches and affiliates shall not discriminate on the basis of race, disability, religion, color, national origin, age, gender, covered veteran's status, marital status, personal appearance, sexual orientation, family responsibilities, political affiliation, source of income, place of business or residence, pregnancy, childbirth, or any other unlawful basis. This policy is in compliance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act.

ARTICLE X CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A conflict of interest may exist when the interests or concerns of any Director, officer, staff member, or said person's immediate family or any party, group, or organization to which said person has allegiance may be seen as competing with the interests or concerns of this organization. All conflicts of interest will be handled pursuant to NRPA's Conflict of Interest Policy, as amended.

ARTICLE XI NOTICES, MEETING PLACES, OFFICES

All notices required in the bylaws of the National Association or applicable state or federal statutes shall be in writing and shall be delivered at least ten (10) days prior to any member meeting to persons entitled to receive the same at their addresses as appearing on the books of the National Association.

Notice may be waived, either before or after the meeting for which it is required, by any person entitled to receive the same.

Meetings may be held at such location as determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

Section 1 – Indemnification

The National Association shall indemnify any person made, or threatened to be made, a party to an action or proceeding other than one by or in the right of the National Association to procure a judgment in its favor, including an action by or in the right of any other corporation of any type or kind, or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, which any Director or officer of the National Association served in any capacity at the request of the National Association, by reason of the fact that such person, his or her testator or intestate, was a Director or officer of the National Association, or served such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise in any capacity, against judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees actually and necessarily incurred as a result of such action or proceeding, or any appeal therein, in the manner and to the full extent allowed by the "not-forprofit corporation law." The National Association may, in the manner and to the full extent allowed by the "not-for-profit corporation law," indemnify any person made, or threatened to be made, a party to an action by or in the right of the National Association to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he or she, his or her testator or intestate, is or was a Director or officer of the National Association, or is or was serving at the request of the National Association as a Director or officer of any other corporation of any type or kind, of any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, against amounts paid in settlement and reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and necessarily incurred by him or her in connection with the defense or settlement of such action, or in connection with an appeal therein.

Section 2 – Insurance

To the extent permitted by the "not-for-profit corporation law," the National Association is authorized to purchase and maintain insurance:

- a) To indemnify the National Association for any obligation which it incurs as a result of indemnification of Directors, officers, employees, and agents;
- b) To indemnify Directors, officers, employees, and agents in instances in which they may be indemnified by the National Association;
- c) To indemnify Directors, officers, employees, and agents in instances in which they may not otherwise be indemnified by the National Association, provided in such case that the contract of insurance provides, in a manner acceptable to the superintendent of insurance of the state of New York, for a retention amount and for co-insurance.

ARTICLE XIII EXPULSION FROM MEMBERSHIP

The Board of Directors may, with cause, expel any individual from membership in the National Association by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Such individual shall be given at least ten (10) days notice of such proposed action, including the cause therefore and an opportunity to be heard. Any branch, section, society, or affiliate may be expelled from membership in the National Association, with cause, by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Such component shall be given at least thirty (30) days notice of such proposed action, including the cause therefore and an opportunity to be heard. Expulsion of any branch, section, or affiliate shall not affect the status of individual National Association members.

ARTICLE XIV AMENDMENTS AND DISSOLUTION

Either a proposed amendment to the bylaws of the National Association or the dissolution of the National Association shall require written notice to all Directors at least thirty (30) days prior to the meeting at which such action is to be considered. Either action shall require a two-thirds (2/3) vote of all of the members of the Board of Directors then in office. Any such amendments or dissolution shall become effective immediately unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XV RULES OF PROCEDURE

At all meetings of the Board of Directors and Director committees, all matters shall be decided by a majority vote of those present and voting, provided that a quorum is present and unless otherwise provided in these bylaws.

Robert's Rules of Order in its latest version shall govern the deliberations of all boards and committees when not inconsistent with these bylaws.